# Elk Rapids Township Planning Commission Meeting Meeting Minutes – Tuesday, November 12, 2019

The meeting of the Elk Rapids Township Planning Commission was called to order by Chairperson Shen Smith at 6:30 PM at the Government Center, 315 Bridge Street, Elk Rapids, MI 49629.

**Present:** Shen Smith, Emile Sabty, Jim Lundy, Renee Mischel, Zach Amos,

and Gary Peppler. (Quorum Established)

**Absent:** Aaron Isenhart

**Also Present:** William Derman, Township Attorney and Larry Nix, Zoning Administrator.

**Audience:** Vince Cooper

Adoption of Agenda: Motion to approve the November 12, 2019 Agenda.

MOTION/S Lundy/Mischel Motion Unanimously Carried.

Public Comments: None

Approval of Minutes: Motion to approve the October 8, 2019 meeting

MOTION/S Sabty/Amos minutes.

**Motion Unanimously Carried.** 

Public Hearing: Motion to Open Public Hearing. Motion/S Mischel/Lundy Motion Unanimously Carried.

Zoning Administrator Larry Nix provided a review of the four amendments to the Elk Rapids Township Zoning Ordinance and a brief discussion regarding signage limits and requirements ensued. The Commission had no further questions or changes to the following proposed amendments:

<u>Amendment 2019-01:</u> Amend Zoning Ordinance Agricultural Zone Permitted Uses to include Farm and Farm Market sales directly to the consumer, their definitions and related permitted Signs.

<u>Part 1-a</u> Add the following definitions to Section 1.03 of the Zoning Ordinance

**Farm -** The land, plants, animals, buildings, structures, including ponds used for agricultural or agricultural activities, machinery, equipment, and other subordinated facilities used in the commercial production of farm products.

**Farm Market -** A place or an area where transactions between a farmer operating as a farm market operator and customers take place offering for sale agricultural products. This also includes a roadside stand.

<u>Part 1-b</u> Amend Chapter 6 "A" - AGRICULTURAL ZONE, Section 6.01 - PERMITTED USES, Subsection 6.01-B to add Farm Markets to the existing text.

**B**. Farms for both general and specialized farming, together with farm dwellings and buildings, and other installations usual to such farms, including farm markets and roadside stands, provided that such markets and stands sell farm products.

# <u>Part 1-c</u> Amend Chapter 3 SIGNS as follows:

- Delete Sub-Section 3.02-B Farm Market Signs
- Amend Sub-Section 3.02-C Political Signs to read 3.02-B Political Signs
- Amend Sub-Section 3.03-A by adding Farm Market and Roadside Signs

Farm Market and Roadside Signs – On premise signage that identifies the business being operated on the farm.

Number Limitation: Two (2)

Size Limitation: Sixteen (16) square feet each

Time Limitation: Permanent Zones Allowed: "A" Zone

Amendment 2019-02: Amend Zoning Ordinance Agricultural Zone Permitted Uses to add new section Solar Energy Farms and their definition.

# <u>Part 2-a</u> Add Solar Energy Farms definition to Section 1.03 of the Zoning Ordinance

**Solar Energy Farms** - A utility-scale commercial facility that converts sunlight into electricity, whether by photovoltaic, concentrating solar thermal devices or any other various experimental solar technologies for the primary purpose of wholesale or retail sales of generated electricity off-site. Solar Energy Farms do not include small scale solar panels or technologies installed at individual residential or commercial locations (e.g. roof or ground mounted solar panels) that are used exclusively for private purposes and not utilized for any commercial resale of any energy, except for the sale of surplus electrical energy back to the electric grid.

# <u>Part 2-b</u> Amend Chapter 6 "A" - AGRICULTURAL ZONE. Section 6.01 - PERMITTED USES to add new Sub-Section "P" **Solar Energy Farms** as follows:

- **P.** Solar Energy Farms are permitted as a special land use. Planning Commission approval for the issuance of a special use permit (special exception) for a Solar Energy Farm establishment is only permitted when specified procedures and requirements, as outlined in this Section and Chapter 19, Section 19.07 are complied with, including the following.
  - 1. INTENT AND PURPOSE: To allow and promote the use of solar energy within the Township as a clean alternative energy source and to provide associated placement, land development, installation and construction regulations for solar energy farm facilities subject to reasonable conditions that will protect the public health, safety and welfare. These regulations establish the minimum requirements for solar energy farm facilities, while promoting a renewable energy source in a safe, effective and efficient manner.

#### 2. STANDARDS:

- a. Minimum Lot Size: There is no minimum lot size.
- b. Height Restrictions: All photovoltaic solar panels and support structures located in a solar energy farm shall be restricted to a maximum height of sixteen (16) feet. This includes when the panel(s) is at maximum tilt position.
- c. Setbacks: All photovoltaic solar panels and support structures associated with such facilities (excluding perimeter fencing) shall be set back a minimum of fifty (50) feet from all property lines. If the right-of-way exists as an easement, the fifty (50) foot setback shall be measured from the edge of the

easement. Solar panels shall be kept at least two hundred (200) feet from an existing residential dwelling, measured to the nearest point on the residential structure. Any additional setback requirements in this Ordinance that exceed this requirement shall be adhered to, including but not limited to setbacks from streams, lakes, and wetlands.

- d. Safety/Access: A security fence (height and material to be proposed and reviewed/approved through the special use permit approval process) shall be placed around the perimeter of the solar energy farm and electrical equipment. Knox boxes and keys shall be provided at locked entrances for security personnel access.
- e. Glare: Solar energy farm facilities shall be located or placed so that concentrated solar glare shall not be directed toward or onto nearby properties or right-of-ways at any time of the day.
- f. Landscaping: The special use permit application for a solar energy farm shall include a proposed landscape plan prepared by a licensed landscape architect. This plan will be reviewed through the special use permit approval process to assure that the proposed facility is appropriately landscaped in relation to adjacent land uses and road right-of-ways. A landscape plan shall meet following standards:
  - (1) Plans: A plan view illustrating the landscape plan for the entire project and a rendered view illustrating the view from public right-of-ways.
  - (2) Buffer: A twenty five (25) foot wide landscape buffer shall consist of two (2) rows of staggered evergreen trees that at planting shall be minimum of four (4) feet in height. If a solar energy farm is adjacent to a residential dwelling or district, then the minimum height shall be six (6) feet at the time of planting. The evergreen trees shall be spaced no more than fifteen (15) feet apart on center, measured from the central trunk of one tree to the central trunk of the next tree. The buffer shall also consist of native grasses, wildflowers, or plants which will provide wildlife and pollinator habitat, soil erosion protection, and/or aid in strengthening the soil structure. The buffer shall be required under the following conditions:
    - (a) Along the property line adjacent to all residential zoning districts
    - (b) If solar panels are located within two hundred (200) feet of a public road right-of-way.
    - (c) Along the property line for the portion of the project within a two hundred (200) foot radius of a residential dwelling in a nonresidential zoning district.
  - (3) Credit for Existing Conditions: Existing topographical features and existing wooded areas may be accepted in lieu of or in combination with the above by approval of the Planning Commission.
  - (4) Planting Timeline: The required trees shall be planted between April 1st and September 15th. If construction of the solar energy

- farm begins after August 15th, the required plantings shall be installed by May 1st the following calendar year.
- (5) Financial Guarantee: A bond, letter of credit, or cash surety shall be provided in the amount equal to one and one-half (1.5) times the cost of the required plantings that the Township shall hold until the next planting season.
- (6) Maintenance: The required plantings shall be continuously maintained in a healthy condition. Dead evergreen foliage shall be replaced.
- g. Local, State, and Federal Permits: Solar energy farms shall be required to obtain all necessary permits and licensing from Elk Rapids Township, Antrim County, State of Michigan, and U.S. Government as applicable prior to construction and shall maintain any necessary approvals as required by the respective jurisdictions or agencies.
- h. Electrical Interconnections: All electrical interconnections or distribution lines shall comply with all applicable codes and standard commercial large-scale utility requirements. Use of above ground transmission lines shall be prohibited within the site.
- 3. ADDITIONAL SPECIAL USE CRITERIA: In addition to the Site Plan Review criteria in Chapter 17 and special exception criteria in Section 19.07, the applicant shall address the following topics in the application for a solar energy farm facility:
  - a. Project Description and Rationale: Identify the type, size, rated power output, performance, safety and noise characteristics of the system including the transmission line/grid connection for the project. Identify the project construction time frame, project life, development phases (and potential future expansions) and likely markets for the generated energy.
  - b. Visual Impacts: Graphically demonstrate the visual impact of the project using photos or renditions of the project with consideration given to setbacks and proposed landscaping.
  - c. Environmental Analysis: Identify impacts on surface and ground water quality and any impacts to established natural or constructed drainage features in the area.
  - d. Waste: Identify any solid or hazardous waste generated by the project.
  - e. Lighting: Provide photometric plans showing all lighting within the facility. No light may adversely affect adjacent parcels. All lighting must be shielded from adjoining parcels. For example, lighting fixtures should be of the shoebox variety directing light downward not outward, including wall and pole mounted fixtures. Light poles are restricted to a maximum height of eighteen (18) feet.
  - f. Transportation Plan: Provide a proposed access plan during construction and operational phases. Show proposed project service road ingress and egress locations onto adjacent roadways and the layout of facility service road system. Due to infrequent access following construction, it is not required to pave or curb solar energy farm access drives. It shall be

- required to pave and curb any driveways and parking lots used for occupied offices that are located on site.
- g. Public Safety: Identify emergency and normal shutdown procedures. Identify potential hazards to adjacent properties, public right-of-ways and to the general public that may be created.
- h. Sound Limitations: Identify noise levels at the property lines of the project when completed and operational.
- i. Telecommunications Interference: Identify any electromagnetic fields and communications interference that may be generated.
- j. Life of the Project and Final Reclamation: Describe the decommissioning and final reclamation plan after the anticipated useful life or abandonment/termination of the project. This includes supplying evidence of an agreement with the underlying property owner that ensures proper removal of all equipment and restoration of the site within six (6) months of decommissioning or abandonment of the project. To ensure proper removal of the project upon abandonment/termination, a bond, letter of credit or cash surety shall be:
  - (1) In an amount approved by the Planning Commission to be no less than the estimated cost of removal and may include a provision for inflationary cost adjustments;
  - (2) Based on an estimate prepared by the engineer for the applicant, subject to approval of the Township Board;
  - (3) Provided to the Township prior to the issuance of a zoning permit;
  - (4) Used in the event the owner of the project or the underlying property owner fails to remove or repair any defective, abandoned or terminated project. The Township, in addition to any other remedy under this Ordinance, may pursue legal action to abate the violation by seeking to remove the project and recover any and all costs, including attorney fees

<u>Amendment 2019-03:</u> Amend Zoning Ordinance General Provisions to add new section Residential Scale Solar Facilities, their definition and include in the Table Of Contents.

<u>Part 3-a</u> Add Residential Scale Solar Facilities definition to Section 1.03 of the Zoning Ordinance

**Residential Scale Solar Facilities -** Any mechanism or device designed for the purpose of converting solar energy into electrical power.

<u>Part 3-b</u> Amend Chapter 2 GENERAL PROVISIONS to add new Section 2.22 RESIDENTIAL SCALE SOLAR FACILITIES

### Section 2.22 - RESIDENTIAL SCALE SOLAR FACILITIES

Residential Scale Solar Facilities are treated as an accessory structure. Residential Scale Solar Facilities shall meet the standards of this section.

A. Residential Scale Solar Facilities shall be sized and intended only to supplement the electricity need at the property on which they are located.

- B. Such structures may be located in the side or rear yard, and must comply with the rear and side yard setback requirements.
- C. Roof mounted solar facilities are permitted provided they do not extend beyond the surface or peak of the roof by more than 24 inches. In no event shall the solar facility exceed the maximum height of the building on which they are located.
- D. A free standing Residential Scale Solar Facility shall not exceed a height of fifteen (15) feet as measured from the supporting ground.
- E. The installation of a Residential Scale Solar Facility shall meet all applicable structural and electrical codes.

Part 3-c Amend the TABLE OF CONTENTS to add new Section 2.22 as titled

<u>Amendment 2019-04:</u> Amend Zoning Ordinance General Provision to add new section Wind Powered Generators, their definition and include in the Table Of Contents.

Part 4-a Add Wind Powered Generators definition to Section 1.03 of the Zoning Ordinance

**Wind Powered Generators -** Any mechanism or device designed for the purpose of converting wind energy into electrical or mechanical power.

<u>Part 4-b</u> Amend Chapter 2 GENERAL PROVISIONS to add new Section 2.23 WIND POWERED GENERATORS

### Section 2.23 – WIND POWERED GENERATORS

Wind Powered Generators are treated as an accessory structure. Wind Powered Generators shall meet the standards of this section.

- A. Wind Powered Generators shall be sized and intended only to supplement the electricity need at the property on which they are located.
- B. Such structures shall only be located in the rear yard, and must comply with the rear and side yard setback requirements.
- C. The diameter of the generator blades shall not exceed eight (8) feet.
- D. A free standing Wind Powered Generator shall comply with the maximum height permitted for the zoning district. A Wind Powered Generator attached to the primary use may not be taller than the roof to which it is attached or thirty-five (35) whichever is less.
- E. A Wind Powered Generator shall be so located on the premises that a distance at least equal to the height of the generator blades at their highest point is provided to the nearest property line.
- F. The installation of a Wind Powered Generator shall meet all applicable structural and electrical codes.

Part 4-c Amend the TABLE OF CONTENTS to add new Section 2.23 as titled

Close Public Hearing: Motion to Close Public Hearing. Motion/S Lundy/Sabty Motion Unanimously Carried.

Motion to Approve: Motion/S Sabty/Lundy

As to the Elk Rapids Township Zoning Ordinance Amendments 2019-01, 2019-02, 2019-03 and 2019-04, move to approve the amendments as presented at the Public Hearing, and send them to the Antrim County Planning Commission for their review and comment.

Roll Call Vote: Peppler, Lundy, Amos, Smith, Mischel, Sabty all voting YES

(6) 0 voting NO. (Isenhart is absent)

MOTION UNANIMOUSLY APPROVED

# **Township Zoning Administrator**

- Zoning Permit Application: Jim Lundy and Larry Nix reported there have been some issues with applicants/builders not following the rules and guidelines laid out in the Township Zoning Permit. Mr. Nix noted the application now requires a survey. In addition to the survey requirement, a statement will need to be added to the Zoning Permit Application noting the Township is not responsible if the applicant or their builder does not follow the permit guidelines and restrictions. Applicants not following the requirements outlined in the permit will have the responsibility to move their building at their expense. The Township relinquishes all responsibility if they put their building in the wrong place. Zoning Administrator Nix and Township Attorney Bill Derman will work on adding this statement to the Township Zoning Permit Application.
- **Township Website Information:** Mr. Nix noted that the Planning Commission currently has personal information on the Township website. (i.e., address, phone number, email). After a quick survey of the members, it was determined the personal information should be removed from the site and only the members name and term should be listed. Mr. Nix gathered the information from the members and will prepare a report for the Township Board to inform them that the Planning Commission members do not want their personal data on the Township website.

# **Township Legal Staff**

- Short Term Rentals: Mr. Derman provided the members with a copy of "A practical guide to effectively regulating short-term rentals on the local government level". The Board discussed the pros and cons of short-term rentals in the area and in the State. Because of the increasing popularity of short-term rentals, the Commission decided this might be a good topic to put on the Planning Commission's "To-Do" list in the Fall of 2020. The Board hopes to be able to review the guidelines and procedures for short-term rentals used by Milton Township, the Village, City of Harbor Springs, Traverse City and the State of Michigan.
- **Septic Systems**: The State of Michigan is the only state that does not have a Health Department regulation for septic systems. Each County or region has their own rules. The State is looking into requiring semi-annual testing of septic systems.

- Wedding Barns/Assembly Buildings: Getting more popular May be coming to this area.
- **Point of Sale Testing:** The Village of Elk Rapids has a Point of Sale septic system testing in place and are looking into regular testing of systems.
- Township Sewer Extension: Inwood Harbor is not interested in a sewer system and the Township is not going to spend any more money pursing this. Elk Rapids Village approved a sewer extension agreement with Milton Township on November 4, and Milton Township approved the extension on November 11. Elk Rapids Township will hold a special meeting with the Township Board and engineers only, on December 12, 2019 at 9:00 a.m. to discuss possible sewer extension along Cairn Highway.
- Marijuana: November 1st State of Michigan started accepting marijuana applications for licensing.
- Tart Trail: No Update.
- Wilcox Park: Township gave the deed back to heirs; they have not yet recorded it.
- Township Christmas Party: Scheduled for Thursday, December 12 at Hacienda.

**Unfinished Business:** None

New Business: None

Public Comments: None.

Member Comments: None.

Adjournment:

MOTION/S Mischel/Peppler MOTION TO ADJOURN.

MOTION CARRIED.

Meeting Adjourned at 7:16 PM

(Meeting Minutes as of 2:50 PM 11/13/19)